
16 January 2020

NOTICE OF MEETING

BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND LOCAL AREA 
COMMITTEE

will meet on
Thursday, 23 January 2020

beginning at
6:00 pm

in the
Hamble Primary School, Hamble Lane, Hamble-le-Rice, SO31 4ND

TO: Councillor Tonia Craig (Chair)
Councillor Steve Holes (Vice-Chair)
Councillor David Airey Councillor Malcolm Cross
Councillor Adam Manning Councillor Jane Rich

Staff Contacts: Laura Johnston, Senior Democratic Services Officer Tel: 
02380688041; Email: laura.johnston@eastleigh.gov.uk

Matt Blythe, Temporary Local Area Manager Tel:023 8068 8311;   
Email: matt.blythe@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Head of Performance and Governance 

_____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website -

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk.
as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 

other languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above.

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and  
Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee papers.

Eastleigh House
 Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA

1. Apologies    

2. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting    (Pages 5 - 12) 

To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 19 December 2019.

4. Chair's Announcements    

5. Public Participation    

6. Local Area Action Plan    (Pages 13 - 18)

7. Presentation on Planning Guidelines    (Verbal Report)

8. Planning Application - Land adjoining The Hermitage, Grange Road, Netley Abbey, 
SO31 5FF - F/19/86158    (Pages 19 - 38) 

Erection of 9 dwellings, carports, pergolas and associated parking, widening of 
access onto Grange Road and drainage following demolition of existing stables 
and manege (Resubmission). F/19/86158.

9. Planning Appeals     

The Head of Legal Services to report: -

that the following appeal has been lodged:-

Fairport House, Lands End Road, Bursledon. SO31 8DN

Appeal against the Council's refusal of planning permission for removal of 
condition 2 and variation of condition 7 of application C/16/78768 to allow retention 
of partial change of use of ground floor of existing outbuilding to B1(a) office use 
(X/19/85436). 

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Monday, 16 March 2020 at 6:00 pm

at Hamble Primary School, Hamble Lane, 
Hamble-le-Rice, SO31 4ND

2

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


3



This page is intentionally left blank



1

BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND LOCAL AREA 
COMMITTEE

Thursday, 19 December 2019  (6:00 pm – 9:35 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Craig (Chairman); Councillors Holes, Airey, Cross and Manning

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Rich

________________________________________

40. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Cross declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 7 and 
after addressing the Committee as a member of the public; left the room 
and did not take part in the debate or vote on the application.

41. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

RESOLVED - 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 26 September 2019 be 
approved as correct.

42. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Mr Maurice Doe addressed the Committee on the purchase of the Car 
Boot site but was informed that this was not the correct forum for this 
discussion.

Maureen Queen of Hound Parish Council addressed the Committee on the 
issue of car parking in Netley Abbey at the rear of the social club.  This 
was a community asset that the club had withdrawn to assist with a 
planning application.  The Borough Council car park was used by 
residents of New Road to park all day.  There had been a useful meeting 
with Eastleigh Borough Council’s (EBC) Traffic Engineers and Cllr Airey 
and the Parish Council asked that the Committee supported a time limit for 
the car park and the part funding of a traffic engineer.

43. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES

The Head of Housing and Development gave a short presentation on 
guidelines that had to be taken into account when determining planning 
applications; in particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken 
into account.  This was set against the broader policy framework.

5

Agenda Item 3



2

44. PLANNING APPLICATION - GE AVIATION,  KINGS AVENUE, HAMBLE-
LE-RICE, SO31 4NF - O/18/84191

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Housing and 
Development (Agenda Item 7) concerning an outline planning application 
with all matters reserved (except for means of access) for the construction 
of up to 148 residential dwellings (Use Class C3) with new vehicular 
access to Hamble Lane, alterations to Kings Avenue and Coronation 
Parade, new car parking for existing sports facilities, employment use and 
residential properties, landscaping, improvements to existing bowls and 
football facilities on site and other associated works. Demolition of non-
original extensions to Sydney Lodge (Grade II* Listed Building) and 
redundant factory buildings (O/18/84191). 

The Head of Housing and Development gave the following updates:
 HCC Highways confirm no objection in principle subject to minor 

detail design changes as part of the S278 process. 
 6 letters of objection following notification of the committee date 

raising issues set out in the agenda
 Corrections

 Para 43 – artificial pitch not artificial footpath
 Para 116 – Hamble Lane not Providence Lane
 Para 121 – not common and but former airfield site

 Condition 1 to be updated to reference highway plans “17055-00-
146_P05”

 Additional condition - The development here by approved shall not 
be occupied or brought in to use until the access is constructed 
broadly in accordance with dwg 17055-00-146_P05. Reason: In the 
interest of highway safety.

The Committee debated the item and whilst noting that a lot of work had 
been carried out since July the following areas of concern were raised:  
this represented overdevelopment, the Council already had a five year 
housing supply, schools were already at capacity with children having to 
travel off the peninsula to attend school, additional traffic on Hamble Lane 
which was already over capacity, impact on waiting times at the Doctors 
surgery which was already struggling to cope with demand and the money 
for sport not being spent in the village.

The Committee noted the recommendation to Permit.  A motion to refuse 
the granting of the permission was proposed and seconded by Councillors.

RESOLVED - 

That the Committee noted offices recommendation to Grant Outline 
Approval but to refuse the scheme for the following reasons:

1.   The proposals represent an inappropriate and unjustified form of 
development beyond the urban edge which would result in the loss of 

6



3

countryside and have an unacceptably urbanising impact to the 
detriment of the character, visual amenity, and the quality of the 
landscape of the locality. The application is therefore contrary to Saved 
Policies 1.CO, 18.CO, and 59.BE(i) of the adopted Eastleigh Borough 
Local Plan Review (2001-2011), emerging policies S1(ix), S7, DM1 i(a) 
of the submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016 – 2036) and the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.

2. The application fails to demonstrate that an appropriate means of 
access can be provided to serve the development without 
unacceptable impact and interference on the footpath and cycleway 
infrastructure, to the detriment of the ease of use and safety of 
pedestrians and cyclists. The proposals are therefore contrary to the 
requirements of Saved Policies 59.BE (v), 92.T and 102.T of the 
adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011, emerging 
policies DM13 of the submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016 – 
2036) and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework

3. The proposal involves development that cannot be reconciled with the 
National Planning Policy Framework in that the significant movements 
generated by the proposed residential development, when considered 
cumulatively with the potential for a growth in traffic associated with the 
retained commercial activities on site, could not be accommodated 
adequately on Hamble Lane and its junctions with adjoining roads. This 
would result in a severe impact on the road safety and operation of the 
local transport network contrary to the provisions of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and saved policies 100.T, 101.T and 102.T 
of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan and emerging Policy 
DM13 of the submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2016 – 2036). 

4. Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrated that the 
loss of the cricket wicket and its outfield, which also provides for two 
grass football pitches and training area, can be adequately mitigated 
within the Parish of Hamble-le-Rice. The proposal is therefore contrary 
to Saved Policy 145.OS of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Review 2001-2011, emerging policies DM34 of the submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan (2016 – 2036) and the provisions of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the adopted Sports Facility Needs 
Assessment and Playing Pitch Strategy Update 2017 and Exception 
Policy E4 of Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy - ‘A Sporting Future 
for the Playing Fields of England’. 

5. The application fails to provide for the required mitigation to offset the 
impacts of the development on the European protected site (SPA, SAC 
and pSPA) from nitrogen loading generated by the population increase 
resulting from the development. The application is therefore contrary to 
the requirements of Saved Policies 25.NC and 45.ES of the adopted 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011, Policies DM10 and 
DM11 of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, Paragraphs 
170, 175 and 176 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and the 

7



4

provisions of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017.

6. The application fails to secure provision for developer contributions for 
on and off-site provision of facilities and infrastructure (including 
affordable housing, air quality monitoring, education, the Solent 
Disturbance Mitigation project, sustainable transport measures, 
improvements to Hamble Lane Corridor, improvements and 
enhancements to the local footpath network, community infrastructure, 
on-site public open space and play area provision, off-site public open 
space, enhanced and replacement sports pitch and facilities, public art) 
made necessary by the development or to mitigate against any 
increased need or pressure on existing facilities. As such the 
application is contrary to policies 101.T, 147.OS, 165.TA, 191.IN of 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011), Eastleigh Borough 
Council's Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document and 
Paragraphs 17, 203 and 204 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

Note to Applicant: The application was refused following the assessment 
of
the following plans: FD16 1431 50 (existing site), FD16-1431-56 
(Illustrative Master Plan May 19), FD16-1431-58 (Phasing May 19) FD16-
1431-60 (Developable Area May 19), FD16-1431-61 (Land Use May 19), 
FD16-1431-62 (Open Space May 19), FD16-1431-63 (Height May 19), 
FD16-1431-64 (Means of Access May 19), 17055-00-146_P05 (General 
Arrangements)

[NOTES: (Councillor Cross declared a non-pecuniary interest in the item 
and after addressing the Committee as a member of the public; left the 
room and did not take part in the debate or vote on the application; (B) a 
number of local residents, including a representative of Hamble Parish 
Council, spoke in opposition to the scheme citing concerns of over 
development, lack of school places, a disregard for sustainable transport 
and an increase in traffic on Hamble Lane; (C) a representative from GE 
Aviation spoke in support of the scheme citing the removal of the objection 
by Sports England, the sale of the business to Aeronova bringing long 
term security, the securing of contributions for Hamble and the proposed 
access allowing fewer movements via Cliffe Avenue; and (D) an objection 
had been received from the new Member of Parliament for Eastleigh, Paul 
Holmes, on Highway grounds.]

45. PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND TO THE NORTH SIDE OF GRANGE 
ROAD, NETLEY ABBEY, SOUTHAMPTON - RM/19/86186

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Housing and 
Development (Agenda Item) concerning a Reserved Matters application 
pursuant to Outline planning permission O/16/78014 for 89 dwellings 
(matters to be considered: appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) 

8



5

and discharge of conditions 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 13, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21 
and 22 of outline permission O/16/78014. RM/19/86186.

The Senior Planning Officer gave the following updates:

• Plans amended to ensure no works, including pumping station, are 
on land within ownership of Netley Grange Limited (landscaping 
and works did previously breach)

• Revised list of plans for Condition 2 to include 15415-BT6
• Additional recommended conditions:

i) “Within 3 months of the written request of the Local Planning 
Authority, a road link to adoptable standards to the adjoining  
Hermitage, Grange Road site shall be provided up to the site 
boundary without service margins, and with no gaps or 
breaks which would prevent its use by vehicles entering or 
leaving the sites. Full details of these works shall be provided 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before works commence.  Reason: in the interests of 
highway safety and to provide properly planned 
development”.

ii)         “Prior to the commencement of development, final details of 
the pumping station works, fencing and screen planting on the site 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and these approved details only shall be provided.  
Reason: in the interests of amenity.”

• Confirmed delegated authority to Head of Housing and 
Development to discharge outstanding conditions for drainage, 
noise mitigation and contaminated land still sought

Resolved – 

That the Committee approved the reserved matters subject to all 
recommended conditions; discharge conditions as per report, and 
give delegated authority to Head of Housing and Development for 
discharge of outstanding conditions

[NOTES: (A) A resident of Netley Grange spoke in objection to the 
application citing concerns about the location of the pumping station 
because it was on top of services for the Grange and the current state of 
the site following flytipping; and (B) the applicants agent spoke in support 
of the application stating that residents were supporting of the mixture of 
dwellings, a road would be created through to the Hermitage site and that 
it had been carefully designed.  He confirmed that the development would 
take place without affecting services.]

46. PLANNING APPLICATION - CHALCOT, YORK ROAD, NETLEY ABBEY, 
SOUTHAMPTON, SO31 5DD - F/19/86252

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Housing and 
Development (Agenda Item 9) concerning a planning application for the 

9



6

construction of detached two bedroom dwelling following demolition of 
existing dwelling and ancillary structures (F/19/86252).

The Senior Planning Officer gave the following updates:
• Nightingale House site considered 
• Revised ecology information received – buffer still sought
• No decked area proposed

Resolved – 

That planning permission be refused as recommended.

[NOTES: (A) Hound Parish Council spoke in opposition to the scheme 
citing concerns around erosion, the potential for setting a precedent for 
building in front of the existing building line, lack of sea defences and the 
building being uninsurable; and (B) the applicants agent informed the 
Committee that this application paved the way for a sea defence 
application to stop erosion and protect trees and the fact that the building 
was only increasing by 23% in footprint and 2m in height.]

47. PLANNING APPLICATION - PILE V24-25, MID STREAM HAMBLE 
RIVER, BURSLEDON, SO31 8DN - F/19/86469

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Housing and 
Development concerning the installation of 1no. pontoon between piles 
V24 -25 in midstream River Hamble opposite the Jolly Sailor at Pile V24-
25, Mid-stream Hamble river, Bursledon, SO31 8DN (F/19/86469).

There were no updates to this report.

RESOLVED -

That planning permission be granted.

[NOTE: The applicants spoke in support of their application citing safety 
grounds.]

48. FINANCIAL REPORT AND FEES AND CHARGES

The Committee considered a report by the Temporary Local Area 
Manager (Agenda Item 11) that set out the Fees and Charges for 2020/21 
and several financial matters that needed to be considered.

RESOLVED – 

That the Committee approved:

(1) the Hamble Square parking charges for 2020 as set out within 
the report;

(2) the allocation of £5,068 of Developer Contributions to the 
replacement of a bus shelter on Station Road, Netley Abbey;

10



7

(3) the allocation of £5,535 from reserves to fund the moving of the 
Bofors gun from Hamble Point; and

(4) noted that £700 has been spent on new waste bins within the area.

49. PLANNING APPEALS

The Head of Legal Services reported:-

(a) that the following appeals had been dismissed:-

Myrtle Cottage, Lands End Road, Bursledon, SO31 8DN

Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for a two storey rear extension with glass link to existing cottage 
(W/19/3223341).

Myrtle Cottage, Lands End Road, Bursledon, SO31 8DN

Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant listed buildings consent 
(Y/19/3223344)

RESOLVED -

That the report be noted.

M6589

1. FIELD_TITLEFIELD_TITLE

11



This page is intentionally left blank



BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND LOCAL AREA 
COMMITTEE 

Thursday, 23 January 2020 

BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND - LOCAL AREA 
ACTION PLAN 2020/21

Report of the Interim Local Area Manager

Recommendation

It is recommended that the Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local Area Action 
Plan 2020/21 shown in Appendix 1 be approved for adoption and publication.

Summary

This report presents the priorities for the coming year for the Local Area Committee.  

Statutory Powers

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.

Strategic Implications 

1. This report seeks to address all of the key objectives in the Corporate Plan.

 Local First – supporting local projects that deliver improved local 
facilities and services.

 Healthy Communities – Enabling health lifestyles

 Prosperous Place – Reinvigorating Local Centres

 Excellent Environment for all.

Introduction

2. The Council has agreed a set of Borough-wide objectives to improve quality of 
life for all. These are set out in the Corporate Plan 2015-25. The Council also 
seeks to enable decisions to be made at the most appropriate local level, 
mostly notably through the five Local Area Committees but also through our 
town and parish councils and other more local partnerships.

13

Agenda Item 6



Eastleigh Borough Council

3. The Local Area Committee regularly approves a Community Investment 
Programme (CIP), which lists all the local projects and initiatives that the Local 
Area Committee and Parishes would like to deliver in the short, medium and 
long term. The list is used to negotiate section 106 contributions from 
developers which often form the majority of the funds required. These funds 
often need to be pooled from several developments over several years in 
order to achieve sufficient project budget.

4. All five Local Area Committees set out a shorter-term list of priorities for the 
coming year and the Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local Area Action 
Plan 2020/21 is given in Appendix 1. Priorities and projects in the Plan have 
informed the Council’s service budgets and staff resources as part of the 
Council’s annual business planning cycle.

5. Local Area and Cabinet Councillors have been consulted on the draft Plan 
and it is now recommended that the Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound 
Local Area Action Plan 2020/21 is approved for adoption and publication, 
subject to minor formatting changes. 

Financial Implications

6. There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.  However 
the issues and projects identified will have financial implications which will be 
dealt with on a case by case basis.

Risk Assessment

7.  There are no direct risks arising from this report.  However the committee will 
need to ensure that the issues and projects identified are monitored and 
reviewed.

Equality and Diversity Implications

8. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people. An Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out for the Plan overall, because while 
there are likely to be equalities impacts, it is recommended that the Council 
has due regard to Equalities impacts in relation to specific actions and 
projects within the Plan.

9.
Climate Change and Environmental Implications

10. The majority of issues and projects identified will not have a direct impact on 
climate change or on the environment.  The exceptions are:

 Air Quality Management Area and action plan – the aim of this work is 
to improve the quality of the environment and reduce pollution arising 
from traffic in the area.

14



Eastleigh Borough Council

 Encouraging the use of rail transport by improving parking provision 
could potentially reduce emissions.

Conclusion

11. The report presents the draft Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local 
Area Action Plan shown in Appendix 1 for approval.

MATTHEW BLYTHE 
Interim Local Area Manager

Date: 10 January 2020
Contact Officer: Matthew Blythe 
Tel No: 023 8068 8311
e-mail: matthew.blythe@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound - Local Area 

Action Plan 2020/21

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

Background Papers:  Eastleigh Borough Council Corporate Plan 2015-2025
 

15



This page is intentionally left blank



Cllr Tonia Craig - Local Area Chair

tonia.craig@eastleigh.gov.uk

Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice  
& Hound (BHH)

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Committee

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Manager 

Key Projects & Priorities

Council Services - Local Variations

 ▶ Champion the local area

 ▶ Decide local priorities

 ▶ Manage local budgets

 ▶ Determine local levels of council services such 
as Streetscene and traffic management

 ▶ Work with the local community

 ▶ Decide planning applications

 ▶ Act as a link between the Council and local 
people

 ▶ Support local Councillors

 ▶ Manage the local revenue budget and the 
capital programme/major projects

 ▶ Work with the Council to improve local 
services and to ensure value for money

 ▶ Identify local needs and priorities

 ▶ Work closely with Parish Councils, schools 
and community groups

 ▶ Major planning applications: 
Maximise the community 
benefit from current sites 
at Bursledon Car-Boot site, 
Kingfisher Grange and 
Monarchs Keep

 ▶ Mercury Library and 
Community Hub – Work with 
Bursledon Parish Council  
and the Mercury Volunteers  
to ensure the Mercury Library 
and Community Hub is 
effectively run.

 ▶ Coronation Parade project 
to widen the disabled access 
outside the butchers/pharmacy

 ▶ Review rail station car park 
provision at Hamble and 
Bursledon – following the 
completed feasibility study 
produce an action plan for 
improvements

 ▶ Implement the Public Art plan 
for the peninsula.

 ▶ New location for Windhover 
kestrel

 ▶ Review Car Parking provision in 
Netley Abbey

 ▶ Implement a new Youth Services 
Agreement with Youth Options

 ▶ Medium term plan for Hamble 
Gun Emplacement

 ▶ Country Parks and Land 
Management – Hamble Common

 ▶ Corporate Communications 

 ▶ Direct Services – leaf clearance, 
benches, bins, fencing. 

 ▶ Locality Area Services – car 
parks at Hamble Square, Netley 
and the Lowford Centre

 ▶ Support Services – Community 
Grants/Finance

 ▶ Specialist Services – Traffic 
Regulation Orders and traffic studies

 ▶ Air Quality Management Area 
extension and associated action 
plan produced by Specialist 
Services

Key Partnerships

 ▶ Bursledon Parish Council

 ▶ Hamble Parish Council

 ▶ Hound Parish Council

 ▶ Bursledon District Community 
Association

 ▶ Pilands Wood Community 
Association

 ▶ Hamble School and Sports 
Complex 

 ▶ Primary schools

 ▶ Health centres

 ▶ Mercury volunteers 

 ▶ Youth Options

 ▶ Hampshire County Council/
Hamble River Authority

 ▶ Hampshire Police

 ▶ Local businesses including GE 
Aviation, BP and Coopervision 

Hiltingbury
Chandler’s

Ford

Eastleigh

Bishopstoke

Horton
Heath

Fair
Oak

Bursledon

Netley

Hamble- 
le-Rice

West
End

Hedge
End

Botley

Local Area Action Plan 
2020/21

17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



BHH – Bursledon, Hamble and Hound Local Area Committee Thursday 23 
January 2020.

Application Number: F/19/86158
Case Officer: Craig Morrison
Received Date: Friday 26 July 2019
Site Address: Land adjoining The Hermitage, Grange Road, Netley Abbey, SO31 

5FF
Applicant: Grange Road Properties Ltd
Proposal: Erection of 9 dwellings, carports, pergolas and associated parking, 

widening of access onto Grange Road and drainage following 
demolition of existing stables and manege (Resubmission).

Recommendation: Refuse for the Reasons:

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1 The development proposed would require the loss of trees and hedgerows on the 
boundary of the site that positively contribute to the character of the local landscape 
and the rural setting of the area. This combined with the proposed installation of an 
acoustic fence, which would represent a prominent and alien feature, the impact of 
which cannot be mitigated would result in an adverse impact on the character of the 
local landscape and the character of the area. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
Saved Policies 18.CO and 59.BE of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2001 - 2011) as 
well as Emerging Policy DM1 

2 The proposal results in the loss of trees and hedgerows of nature conservation 
importance where a reasonable alternative scheme exists that would not require this 
loss. The proposal is supported by inadequate information to demonstrate that 
appropriate mitigation and enhancement can be provided to off-set the biodiversity loss 
of the site and provide a biodiversity net gain as required by paragraph 170 (d) of the 
NPPF. The proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to the requirements of 
Saved Policies 26.NC and 59.BE (i) of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001 
- 2011) and Policy DM11 of the Emerging Local Plan. 

3 In the absence of a S106 Planning Obligation or direct payment of the Solent 
Recreation Mitigation Strategy sum the increased recreational pressure from the 
additional dwelling on site would have an unmitigated and harmful impact on the Solent 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Special Protection Area (SPA) contrary to the 
Habitats and Species Regulation (2017).

4 The applicant has failed to demonstrate that waste water from the proposal will not 
result, in combination with other developments, in an adverse affect on the Solent and 
Southampton Water SPA, a European designated site, or the features for which it is 
designated. The Local Planning Authority as the competent authority under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 cannot conclude that there will 
be no adverse effect on the integrity of the designated sites identified above. The 
application is therefore contrary to the provisions of Policy 25.NC and 45.ES of the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2001-2011 and Policies DM10 and DM11 of the 
Emerging Eastleigh Local Plan 2016 -2036 and Paragraphs 170 and 175 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

5 The proposed development is located on a narrow part of Grange Road where on-road 
parking could result in an impact on the safety and function of the local highway 

19

Agenda Item 8



network. In the absence of a contribution towards the delivery of a Traffic Regulation 
Order to prevent on road parking the proposal would conflict with Saved Policy 100.T 
of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2001 - 2011) and Emerging Policy DM13 of the 
Emerging Local Plan. 

Note to Applicant: The application was refused following the assessment of the 
following plans: 18126-AA5-AS, 18126-BT7, 1831A-01h, 1831A-02, 1831A-03, 1831A-
04a, 1831A-05, 1831A-06a, 1831A-07a, 1831A-08, 1831A-09, 1831A-10, 1831a 
D01, 1831A-L01, 2017-3596-101 Rev B, 6923/01 Rev A, PRI22374 13, PRI22374 14.

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (February 
2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive approach to the handling of 
development proposals so as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive outcome and 
to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a timely manner.

Introduction

1. This application has been referred to the Local Area Committee because of 
the planning history on the site where a previous application for a similar 
development was called to the committee. 

Description of Application

2. Erection of 9 dwellings, carports, pergolas and associated parking, 
widening of access onto Grange Road and drainage following demolition of 
existing stables and manege (Resubmission).

Site Area

3. Land adjoining The Hermitage, Grange Road, Netley Abbey, SO31 5FF

Residential Development Density (Net)
24 dwellings per hectare (dph)

Topography

4. The site is relatively flat but with a slope downwards to Grange Road from 
the south-eastern boundary of the site. 

Trees

5. The site has previously been used for grazing and is largely free of trees; 
however, there are numerous large and mature trees on the south eastern 
and south western boundaries. Many of these are prominent and in 
particular there are 3 large oak trees on the boundary with Grange Road 
these are marked as T12 (outside of the site) T15 and T17. T17, which is 
subject to a tree preservation order (TPO) would be lost to the 
development in order to provide visibility splays for the access onto Grange 
Road using an existing track. 

Boundary Treatment

20



6. The trees mentioned above form the boundary treatment for the south 
eastern and south western boundaries with a single species ornamental 
hedge forming the north eastern and north western boundaries. 

Site Characteristics

7. The site has been used as grazing for horses most recently and there 
remains a stable building and associated area of hardstanding as well as a 
manege, the remainder of the site is grazing grass with vegetation to the 
boundaries. 

Character of Locality

8. The site is located on the western edge of the village of Netley Abbey and 
is between the largely 20th century development to the east and West 
Wood Nature reserve to the west. Netley Abbey (a scheduled ancient 
monument) is located approximately 250 metres to the west although this 
is separated from the site by other properties on Grange Road and 
Fountains Park which is a low-density housing area. 

9. The site to the north has outline planning permission for 89 dwellings and a 
reserved matters has been submitted and has a resolution to grant 
planning permission from the Local Area Committee pending the resolution 
of technical matters. Further north between this site and the former 
Dancing Goose/Mill House public house a scheme for 9 new dwellings has 
been approved. 

Relevant Planning History

10.F/19/85422 - Erection of 12 dwellings, carports and associated parking, 
new access from Grange Road and drainage following demolition of 
existing stables and manege – Withdrawn

11.RM/19/86186 - Reserved Matters pursuant to Outline planning permission 
O/16/78014 for 89 dwellings (matters to be considered: appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) and discharge of conditions 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 
11, 13, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 21 and 22 of outline permission O/16/78014.

12.Z/29339/006/00 - Siting of 10 no. 1.5 metre high lighting columns adjacent 
to outdoor menage – Permit 20.11.2003

13.Z/29339/003/00 - Construction of stables – Refuse 04.02.2002

14.Z/29339/002/00 - Use of land for herb field project and construction of 
agricultural associated buildings. – Withdrawn

15.Z/29339/001/00 - Outline: erection of two houses – Refuse 13.01.1989

16.Z29339/000/00 - Outline: erection of three houses – Refuse 12.03.1987

21



Representations Received

17.3 letters of objection received (Summarised)

 Increased traffic and highway safety impacts on Grange Road and 
shared access

 There have been a number of accidents on Grange Road
 Loss of tree subject to a tree preservation order (TPO)
 Loss of tree would not improve sight lines 
 Loss of privacy from use of shared access. 
 Over development and not in keeping with the north side of Grange 

Road.
 Poorly laid out

 Hampshire Swifts
 Integral nest sites should be incorporated into each dwelling

Consultation Responses

EBC Biodiversity Officer – Objection

18.Although the access has now been relocated in order to retain mature oaks 
T15 and T12, it will still result in the loss of the irreplaceable, mature oak 
T17 of significant ecological value.  The visibility splays will also affect 
almost the entire frontage of the site and result in the complete loss of the 
hedgerow for a significant stretch and greatly reduce it in the remainder 

19.Additionally, there would be the loss of two mature trees other young trees 
in the woodland strip in which they are located on the south-western 
boundary.

20. Insufficient room for replacement planting between the acoustic wall and 
the road.  Replacement planting would have to be significant to 
compensate for the loss of the hedgerow/ young woodland and 
development would have to provide a buffer zone (e.g. grassland/ patchy 
scrub) to provide a functional corridor which maximises biodiversity and the 
current layout precludes this.

Built Heritage Consultant - No Objection.

21.The north-west boundary of this site abuts the north-eastern arm of Netley 
Abbey Conservation Area which itself skirts around the Strategic Gap up to 
Grange Farm.  The character of this stretch of road from The Hermitage up 
to the Grange Farm entrance, more particularly on this side of the road, is 
currently distinctly rural. The outline permission for the site to the north-
east of this application maintains this approach in order to retain the rural 

22



atmosphere and green lung, in-spite of the Strategic Gap being eroded by 
new housing behind.

22.The majority of greenery is retained however by the time the hedging is cut 
back it will have been annihilated and new planting will take quite some 
time to be mature enough to be a reasonable replacement. 

23.Although the removal of three trees is required, the revised entry point to 
the site is a vastly superior solution for the site than the previous 
application. Most of the western tree-line is retained so the impact will be 
very limited.  

24.The Buildings details go right around the buildings giving an air of greater 
quality; this is helped by the clever configuration of the semi-detached 
properties. 

EBC Environmental Health Officer – No Objection

Air quality:
25.The report supplied by the applicant refers to a separate report carried out 

for development nearby. It concludes that because the other developments 
impact was determined to be ‘minimal’ that no further action is required for 
this development. Whilst no explanation is given we have assumed that 
that the report’s author is referencing the significance criteria of the IAQM 
‘Land-Use Planning & Development Control: Planning For Air Quality’. This 
identifies that impacts that are less than 1% of the Air Quality Action Level 
are described as ‘Slight’ or ‘Negligible’ depending on the circumstances. 
Whilst we do not disagree that any impact would be small the increase in 
traffic arising from the development would not improve air quality within the 
AQMA and as such a contribution should be sought. This should be at a 
level of £100 per dwelling. The developer should also ensure that the 
dwellings are constructed to facilitate future owners to charge electric cars 
by providing suitable power outlets for this purpose on each dwelling.

Land contamination:
26.With respect to potential risks from ground gas emissions from the 

neighbouring landfill site, monitoring carried out has demonstrated existing 
levels of gas in site within the criteria for Characteristic Situation 1, 
meaning no ground gas protection is required. 

27.Site soil investigation work carried out has demonstrated that the soils on 
site are suitable for residential end use and that no remedial work is 
necessary. We have previously advised that a condition be imposed to 
require the developer to report any contaminated material that should 
come to light during development being reported to the LPA, we would also 
request that a condition is imposed requiring the approval of the LPA for 
any imported soils brought onto site, should this importation be necessary.

23



Noise:
28.The submitted report has measured existing noise levels on site and has 

advised that if a 2.5m high acoustic screen is located along the boundary 
with Grange Road then the internal and external noise standards of the 
Local Plan will be met. 

29.We are concerned that the calculation of noise levels when considering 
internal noise levels has not accounted for façade noise reflections, this 
means that internal noise levels will actually be higher the those predicted 
in the report. As a result the first floor internal noise standard for bedrooms 
would not be met during the day with windows open, even with the acoustic 
screen in place. Whilst this is a non - compliance with the LPA we do not 
consider this sufficiently significant to refuse the permission alone. 

30.We would recommend that the development is conditioned to require the 
installation of the proposed noise screen and for it to be constructed as 
described in the application.

31.Should the acoustic screen not be considered suitable in planning terms 
this would result in the external garden areas failing the council’s external 
noise standards for the whole of the garden of the properties nearest to 
Grange Road, similarly daytime and night time internal noise standards 
would also fail to be met with windows open.

32.Should the noise screen not be included in the development we would not 
be able to support the application as it currently stands due to the noise 
impacts on external amenity areas and night time noise impact on 
bedrooms. 

33.There are likely to be impacts from these activities on adjoining and 
neighbouring dwellings. We would therefore recommend that the 
application is conditioned to require provision of a detailed plan showing 
how noise, vibration and dust will be managed through the demolition and 
construction process.

EBC Tree Officer – Objection

34.The internal of the site is tree free, with significant trees being on the site 
boundaries to the southwest and southeast. Therefore, I have no concerns 
regarding the placement or size of any of the dwellings, within the centre of 
the site. However, removal of any of the significant trees to the southeast 
(along Grange Road) would be unacceptable. 

Removal of T17

35.Objection to the proposed removal of T17 for access. T17 is a large, 
mature oak tree, and is characteristic of the local area. The tree provides 
high levels of visual amenity due to its size and prominent position on the 
highway. The tree is protected under a Tree Preservation Order.

24



Unrealistic Planting Scheme

36.Given that EBC have declared a Climate Emergency, I am not convinced 
whether the proposed replacement tree planting could mitigate for the loss 
of this large tree. Further, I believe the replacement for T17 would be 
subjected to excessive post-development pressure. The tree is located 
approximately 10 m to the south of the dwelling and I am not convinced 
that we could guarantee that the tree would reach maturity or a significant 
size.

EBC Urban Design Officer

37.The proposal currently appears cramped on site with parking and turning 
areas dominating views into the site

38.Loss of TPO tree with no meaningful mitigation currently proposed and 
general lack of landscape information

39. Impact on the setting of the adjacent Conservation Area resulting from 
cramped layout, loss of TPO tree and materials palette

HCC Archaeology – No Objection Subject to Conditions

40.While there is no indication that archaeology presents an overriding 
concern I would advise that the assessment, recording and reporting of any 
archaeological deposits affected by the construction of the new buildings 
be secured through the attachment of suitable conditions to any planning 
consent that might be granted. 

Natural England – No Objection subject to appropriate mitigation 

41. Nutrients
42. The proposals will result in a positive Nitrogen budget of 8.96 Kg/TN/year. 

Provided that based on a sufficient level of evidence, the development will 
achieve nutrient neutrality by first occupation and that the appropriate level 
of mitigation can be fully secured in perpetuity, there will be no negative 
impact on the integrity of European Sites

43.Solent recreation
44.Provided the applicant is fully compliant with the Solent Recreation 

Mitigation Partnership Definitive Strategy and an appropriate planning 
condition or obligation is attached to any planning permission to secure the 
contributions towards this mitigation measure the applicant will mitigate 
against the potential adverse effects of recreational disturbance on the 
integrity of the European sites.

Strategy (Local Plan) 

25



45.Contrary to policy as development beyond the urban edge on a site that is 
not allocated for development in the emerging Local Plan. Furthermore, the 
current 5 year HLS is favourable at 7.1 years. However, whilst an objection 
would normally raised the proximity of the large housing site to the north for 
89 units would allow for an exception to policy to be made”. 

Southern Water – No Objection

46.No objection subject to formal connection to the public foul sewer system. 
The construction of tanked permeable paving or permeable paving acting 
as soakaway will not be permitted to be constructed over adoptable 
sewers. The applicant will need to ensure that arrangements exist for the 
long –term maintenance of the SUDS facilities. 

Hound Parish Council – No Objection 

47.HPC Wish to be kept informed of progress on the biodiversity issues

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Outside Built up Area Boundary
 Adjacent Designated Conservation Area
 Within Site of Archaeological Interest
 Within 200 metres of Local Nature Reserve
 Within Strategic Gap
 Within HRA Screening Area

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

 Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 saved Policies: 1.CO, 
2.CO, 18.CO, 19.CO, , 25.NC, 28.ES, 30.ES, 31.ES, 34.ES, 35.ES, 
36.ES, 37.ES, 45.ES, 59.BE, 61.BE, 75.H, 100.T, 102.T, 104.T, 
166.LB, 167.LB, 168.LB, 169.LB, 190.IN, 191.IN

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014

48.The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 
examination in July 2014, but the Inspector concluded that insufficient 
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While 
this has not been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can 
therefore be considered to have extremely limited weight in the 
determination of this application. 

49.Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036

26



50.The Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 31st October 
2018 and the dates for examination are in December 2019 and January 
2020.  Given the status of the emerging Plan, it is considered that some 
weight can be attributed to it. Policy DM24 relates to the adjacent site with 
Outline permission and a reserved matters application for 89 dwellings. As 
the emerging Local Plan is still at a relatively early stage of examination it 
is considered that Policy DM24 itself carries some weight however the 
extant planning permission would be a material consideration in the 
determination of this application and the weight given to this is discussed 
later in this recommendation. 

Supplementary Planning Documents

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards 

(January 2009)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 

Development (March 2009)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 2008, 

updated 2010)
 Biodiversity
 Netley Abbey Conservation Area Appraisal

National Planning Policy Framework

51.The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that applications 
for planning permission must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Para 
11 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development 
and states that development proposals which accord with the development 
plan should be approved without delay. Where the development plan is 
absent, silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission 
should be granted unless the adverse impacts of the development would 
outweigh the benefits; or specific policies in the Framework indicate 
development should be restricted (paragraph 11). Local plan policies that 
do not accord with the NPPF are now deemed to be “out-of-date”. The 
NPPF requires that due weight should be given to relevant policies in 
existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF. In 
other words, the closer the policies in the plan accord to the policies in the 
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given.

National Planning Practice Guidance 

52.Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the 
consideration of planning applications. 

Policy Commentary

53.The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against 
which this application will be assessed with particular regard to the 

27



principle of development, the design and impact on the character of the 
area, trees, the landscape impact, highways, amenity, nature conservation, 
heritage assets

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

54.Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states: -
"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination 
must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise."

55.The Principle of Development 

56.The site lies outside of the Netley Abbey Urban Edge and for planning 
purposes the site lies within the countryside. Policy 1.CO of the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001 – 2011) applies which 
allows for new development in the countryside for development 
associated with agriculture, recreational use, and public utilities or meet 
other policies in the plan. 

57.The development is for new housing and therefore would not meet the 
requirements of this policy. It is therefore important to establish the 
weight that can be applied to this policy. The current development plan 
is time expired; however, this does not in itself make the policy out of 
date as clarified by paragraph 213 of the NPPF.

58.The three following recent appeal decisions have established that Saved 
Policy 1.CO should be afforded substantial/considerable to full weight:

 ‘Mallards Road’ (APP/21715/W/16/3156702);

 ‘Bubb Lane’ (APP/W1715/W/16/3153928); and 

 ‘Mazels House’ (APP/W1715/W/17/3173253)

59.In regard to housing land supply, and notwithstanding the Planning 
Policy Officer’s comments, the recent appeal decision at Satchell Lane 
established that the council can currently demonstrate a 7.1 year’s 
supply of deliverable housing sites and therefore the tilted balance in 
favour of sustainable development as set out in paragraph 11 does not 
apply. Accordingly, the balance in section 38(6) as set out above applies 
requiring the decision maker to establish whether any material 

28



considerations indicate making a decision contrary to the development 
plan. 

60.While the council can demonstrate its 5 year housing land supply this is not 
a cap on development and the proposal should give weight to requirement 
of paragraph of 59 of the NPPF to significantly boost the supply of housing. 
The high court decision in relation to the above appeal clarified that a large 
surplus in relation to housing land supply should not reduce the weight to 
be given to boosting the supply of housing. The proposal would deliver 9 
homes with a mix of 2, 3 and 4 bedroomed houses. The delivery of housing 
is considered to carry some weight in favour of the development

61.The application site lies within the Strategic Gap between Southampton 
and Netley. Policy 2.CO restricts development that would physically or 
visually diminish the gap. 

62.The council conducted a review of countryside gaps in 2017, the site 
remained part of the gap; however the review was conducted prior to the 
approval of the grant of outline permission on the major development site 
to the south by decision O/16/78014. A reserved matters application has 
been submitted on this site which is currently under consideration. The 
submission of the reserved matters application gives a reasonable 
expectation that this site will come forward and be delivered in the near 
future.  

63.The application site would be surrounded by existing housing to the north, 
west and south and the proposed development for 89 dwellings to the east. 
As a result of the location of the proposal in relation to the approved 
development and surrounding existing housing the site is not considered to 
further physically or visually diminish the Gap and the proposal is therefore 
considered to be in accordance with the requirements of Saved Policy 
2.CO.

64.Given the context of the site and surrounding development as well the 
delivery of a good mix of houses it is considered that the principle of 
development on this site would be acceptable if it is otherwise 
acceptable in relation to other material considerations detailed in the 
remainder of this report. 

The Impact on the Character of the Area

65.Saved Policy 18.CO of the Eastleigh Local Plan 2001 – 2011 states that 
Development which fails to respect or has an adverse impact on the 
intrinsic character of the landscape, will be refused.

29



66.Saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan requires development to take full 
and proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, 
layout, design and siting.  It also requires a high standard of landscape 
design, have a satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, 
cyclist and pedestrians, make provision for refuse and cycle storage and 
avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss 
of light, loss of outlook, noise and fumes.

67.The site represents a transition between the more built up area of Netley 
Abbey and the surrounding countryside predominantly to the north. It is 
noted by the urban design officer that existing development on the 
northern side of Grange Road is of lower density. 

68.Comments have been made by the Urban Design officer that the layout 
is cramped, and it is acknowledged given the constraint of the nearby 
trees, the proposal is considered to make efficient use of land. The 
quantum of development on the site is not in itself considered to be 
unacceptable in the context of making efficient use of land however 
there are concerns regarding the form and layout. 

69.The site frontage on Grange Road contains two prominent trees (Both 
subject to tree preservation order) referred to as T15, a grade A oak tree 
within the middle of the site and T17, a category B oak tree on the 
corner of the adjacent to the proposed access of Grange Road. In 
addition, two smaller trees require removal within the belt of trees on the 
south-western boundary to provide the access from the existing drive. 
The trees and hedgerow along the frontage of Grange Road form an 
important landscape feature that continues further north and has been 
retained in other sites approved on the northern side of Grange Road. 

70.To provide safe pedestrian and vehicle visibility T17 would have to be 
removed and the hedge cut back and retained approximately 2.5 metres 
back from the carriageway close to the access. The amount of distance 
from the carriageway would diminish with distance from the access, 
however most of the frontage of the site would require some clearance 
of the hedge. Notwithstanding the biodiversity implications the loss of 
hedge would be harmful to the current enclosure that the hedge 
provides of Grange Road which contributes to its edge of settlement 
character. The submitted indicative tree mitigation plan indicates 10 
replacement trees including 4 large trees. If the Planning Authority were 
looking to approve the scheme further details would be required by 
condition. There is concern however that the large trees proposed would 
not off-set the loss of T17 as they are located within rear gardens and 
could be removed by future owners and would also be far less 
prominent than T17 as it is set a considerable distance back from the 
carriageway. The tree officer has raised additional concern that the 

30



length of time taken to reach maturity is excessive and therefore the 
mitigation would not be realised for many years. The applicant has not 
demonstrated that the loss of trees and vegetation required can be 
mitigated and the proposal is therefore considered to result in an 
unacceptable loss of mature trees of considerable amenity value to the 
detriment of the character of the area. 

71.The application proposes 9 dwellings with plots 1 – 5 facing backwards 
towards Grange Road. The rear elevation of dwellings would not 
normally be supported as set out in the Quality Places SPD as this is an 
unconventional arrangement that can be at odds with the character of 
the area. However, the dwellings proposed have rear elevations that 
have been designed and detailed in a relatively traditional style. They 
share gabled frontage elements both to front and rear and this helps tie 
the style in to others in the area including some detached 1930s style 
properties on the southern side of Grange Road. The appearance of the 
rear of the dwellings is not considered to be at odds with the 
development pattern in the area however there is concern regarding the 
impact of having gardens facing towards Grange Road. 

72.In order to provide adequate levels of amenity in the rear gardens of the 
properties a 2.5 metre acoustic fence is proposed behind the partially 
retained existing hedge. The applicant suggests the existing hedge 
would screen the acoustic fence; however, given the need to remove a 
large amount of the hedge to provide for visibility splays, for the 
improved access road, it is not considered that the screening would be 
effective and would not adequately filter views of the fence. The large 
and visually intrusive fence would be an alien feature on this part of 
Grange Road and would significantly dilute the architectural efforts to 
make the rear of the dwellings appear as the fronts as viewed from 
Grange Road. 

73.As submitted the proposal would fail to respect the character of the local 
landscape and has not taken full and proper account of the area in the 
design of the access thereby resulting in harm contrary to Saved 
Policies 18.CO and 59.BE. 

74.The Local Planning Authority and the applicant have negotiated with the 
neighbouring land owner in the hope of providing access through that 
development. The adjoining development has been amended to ensure 
an access is delivered up to the boundary of the site providing access 
from an approved access off Grange Road. This can provide access to 
adoptable standards without service margins, gaps or breaks that would 
allow for vehicles to enter the current application site. This alternative 
access is deliverable and provides a realistic alternative to serve the 
application site avoiding the need to remove the vegetation along 
Grange Road. The harm to the character of the area as a result of the 

31



proposed access and acoustic fence is not outweighed by the delivery of 
9no. market houses.  Given that an alternative access exists that would 
considerably reduce the harm to the character of the area it is not 
considered that there are material considerations that would indicate a 
recommendation to support this proposal that is contrary to Saved 
Policies 18.CO and 59.BE of the local plan. 

75.Section 71(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 states:
“In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in the 
Conservation Area of any powers (under the Planning Acts), special 
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of that area”.) 

76.The Council’s Built Heritage Consultant has indicated that the proposal 
would affect the setting of the Netley Abbey Conservation Area as the 
proposal results in the loss of a significant amount of boundary 
vegetation and a prominent oak tree. Given that there are limited views 
of the site from within the conservation area and vice versa it is not 
considered that the proposal would affect the Conservation Area’s 
significance This harm, given that the site lies outside of the 
conservation area would be considered at the lower end of less than 
significant harm.  The proposal is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with the requirements of criterion (i) of Saved Policy 169.LB 
of the Local Plan as well as the requirements of Emerging Policy DM12. 

Archaeology

77.Given the historic significance of the area being near Netley Abbey it is 
considered likely that the area would contain archaeological remnants.  
While it is considered that if approved the development would impact on 
the historic significance of the archaeological deposits there would be a 
public benefit in the form of better understanding the history of the area 
which would outweigh this harm. It is therefore considered that pre-
commencement conditions would be required if permission is to be 
granted. These would require a written scheme of investigation followed 
by a mitigation of the impact followed by a report following the work 
taking place detailing assessment, publication and public engagement. 
The proposal with conditions would not adversely affect a site of 
archaeological significance in accordance with Saved Policy 167.LB. 

Highways

32



78.Saved Policy 100.T if the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001 - 
2011 requires the development to be well served by public transport, 
cycling and walking and to include measures to minimise its impact on 
the transport network. The site is located adjacent to a bus stop on 
Grange Road that serves a bus route that provides 2 buses an hour in 
each direction towards Southampton and Hamble and is approximately 
15 minutes walk to Netley rail station which provides services towards 
Southampton and Fareham. The proposal includes provision of a 
crossing point adjacent to the access which would allow residents to use 
the local footpath network to provide access to Netley village centre.  It 
is therefore considered that public transport provision is acceptable, that 
the site is relatively sustainable in its location and would therefore 
minimise the need to travel by car. The proposal is considered to comply 
with the relevant sections of Saved Policy 100.T

79.The site provides 2 car parking spaces for 2 and 3 bedroomed dwellings 
and 3 car parking spaces for the 4 bedroomed dwellings. No specific 
cycle storage provision has been made however there is adequate 
space within rear gardens to provide sheds for which details could be 
required by condition. This is in compliance with the requirements of the 
Residential Parking Standards SPD and thereby Policy 104.T of the 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001 – 2011.

80.Notwithstanding the compliance with the council’s parking standards, a 
contribution towards provision of a Traffic Regulation Order to prevent 
unsafe parking by visitors to the proposal on Grange Road has been 
requested by the Highways Officer. As the proposal is recommended for 
refusal a section 106 agreement has not been completed, therefore in 
the absence of this contribution the development is recommended for 
refusal based on failing to comply with the requirements of Saved Policy 
100.T of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2001 – 2011) and Emerging 
Policy DM13. 

81.
A number of representations have been received noting that the access 
joins a relatively narrow part of Grange Road. The County highway’s 
officer has raised no objection in principle but has raised concern that 
vehicle tracking shows vehicles overhanging the opposite pavement and 
pedestrian waiting area. The applicant has amended their transport 
statement and the highways officer has confirmed that while the access 
does not strictly meet the standards that a departure is appropriate in 
the case. 

Amenity

33



82.Policy 59.BE requires new development to avoid unduly impacting on 
neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, 
noise and fumes.

83.The proposal maintains adequate distances from neighbouring 
properties and gardens to avoid unacceptable levels of overlooking. 
There is a neighbouring annex over the north eastern boundary of the 
site however due to the orientation of the boundary treatment and the 
single storey nature of the annex it is considered that the privacy of 
users of the annex would be maintained. Plot 1 maintains 25 metres 
from the flank elevation of Glendower to the west and Plot 9 is 
approximately 36 metres from The Hermitage, with both of these 
distances being well in excess of the guidance contained within the 
Quality Places SPD to ensure adequate privacy to neighbouring 
occupiers. Within the site there is a minimum distance of 14 metres 
between the front windows of plots 1-5 and 6-9, given that the front of 
the dwellings face onto semi-public space it is considered that this is an 
adequate distance to provide sufficient privacy and daylight for the 
occupiers of each property. 

84.The gardens of each property exceed the 60% requirement of gross 
internal floorspace and plots 6 – 9, which have gardens within 30 
degrees of north, have gardens at least 12 metres in length to account 
for being overshadowed by the house on each plot. The internal floor 
areas of each property meet the minimum requirements of the Nationally 
Described Space Standards. The properties are therefore considered to 
provide a good standard of amenity for both future and neighbouring 
residents. 

85.The proposal is considered to meet the amenity standards of Saved 
Policy 59.BE

Noise

86.The principal noise source that would affect the development is traffic 
along Grange Road. The application is supported by a noise survey 
which demonstrates that with double glazing to a sufficient specification 
the internal living conditions would be within guideline limits, and this 
could be conditioned if minded to approve the scheme. 

87.By virtue of the dwellings backing on to Grange Road, noise levels 
within the rear gardens without mitigation (in the form of the acoustic 
fence) would exceed guidelines in terms of noise disturbance. There is 
conflict between the need to provide acceptable living conditions for 
future residents when using gardens and the method of attenuating the 

34



noise via the use of a 2.5 metre acoustic fence as proposed. The 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer has confirmed an objection 
would be raised to the proposal if the acoustic fence were to be omitted 
from the proposal. However, with the fence in place, as proposed 
adequate internal and external noise environment for future occupiers 
would be provided and would therefore comply with Saved Policy 30.ES 
which would be consistent with the requirements of emerging policy 
DM8. 

Land Contamination

88.The site is in close proximity to a former landfill site at Westwood Local 
Nature Reserve to the west of the site. A land condition report has been 
submitted and comments are awaited from the council’s environmental 
health officer. Neighbouring sites in Grange Road have required 
mitigation measures to combat the impacts of landfill gas. These have 
been reasonably secured by conditions and there is no reason to 
suspect that conditions for mitigation measures could not be applied to 
this site. Were the proposal otherwise acceptable conditions in relation 
to land contamination would be applied to any permission. 

Nature Conservation

89.The development involves the loss of three trees and semi-improved 
grassland within the site to provide for areas of hardstanding and the 
dwellings and other buildings proposed. A tree mitigation plan has been 
provided however the Council’s Biodiversity Officer and tree officer do 
not consider that the mitigation proposed is sufficient to offset the loss of 
the maturity of the trees and hedgerow vegetation as well as the 
associated ground cover. 

90.The Council’s Biodiversity officer has advised insufficient space has 
been allowed for a buffer between the proposed acoustic fence and 
replacement hedge planting designed to mitigate for the loss of parts of 
the hedge and semi-improved grassland that would be lost to the 
development. In relation to Saved Policy 25.NC criterion (i) and (ii) the 
loss of habitat on site is not considered to be outweighed by the delivery 
of housing on the site and is not unavoidable given the alternative 
access that could be delivered without requiring the level of vegetation 
loss. As set out above it is not considered that appropriate measures 
have been taken to mitigate or compensate for the adverse impact as 
required by criterion (c). The proposal therefore fails the requirements of 
Saved Policy 25.NC of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2001 – 2011. 
Accordingly, it is considered that the proposal would result in a net-loss 
in biodiversity on the site contrary to guidance contained within 

35



paragraph 170 (d) of the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Saved Policy 26.NC of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (2001 – 2011). 

91.Policy DM11 of the emerging local plan requires developments to 
protect, conserve and enhance natural habitats including trees and 
hedgerows as well as requiring enhancement of biodiversity. As this 
policy is broadly consistent with the requirements of the previous plan it 
is reasonable to conclude that the proposal is also contrary to Policy 
DM11 of the Emerging Local Plan. 

92.The proposal is located within the 5.6 kilometre buffer of the Solent 
Special Protection Area and Special Area of Conservation whereby 
recreational use emanating from future residents of the development is 
likely to have a detrimental impact on ground nesting birds. A payment 
towards the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy would be required to 
mitigate this impact and this would be secured via the S106 Agreement.

93.Nitrogen budget has been completed which shows that the development 
would result in an additional 8.96 kg of Nitrogen would enter the 
protected waters of the Southampton Water and Solent SPA via the 
waste water treatment system.  In an unmitigated form the proposal 
would result, in combination with other developments, in a significant 
impact on Solent and Southampton Water Special Protection Area 
(SPA). Were the proposal otherwise acceptable the Council would work 
with the developer to identify mitigation measures to address the level of 
nutrients. Natural England have confirmed that provided mitigation is 
provided on the matter of nutrients that the proposal would not have an 
adverse impact, alone or in combination with other developments on the 
Solent and Southampton Water Special Protection Area. 

Planning obligations

94. In line with ministerial statements and case law this development for 9 
dwellings cannot require contributions towards affordable housing or tariff 
style contributions towards matters such as transport infrastructure, 
education or public open space. Excluded from this are contributions 
towards mitigating the direct impacts of the development in terms of the 
impact of visitors to Solent Special Protection Area and SAC. A 
contribution of £5,919 is required and would be secured by a legal 
agreement or direct payment prior to the grant of any permission. At this 
time no payment or legal agreement has been secured, as the 
recommendation is for refusal this must therefore be included as a reason 
for refusal. 

Other material considerations

95.The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 
examination in July 2014, but the Inspector concluded that insufficient 

36



housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While 
this has not been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can 
therefore be considered to have extremely limited weight in the 
determination of this application.

Conclusion

96.The site is for residential development that is located within the countryside 
and Strategic Gap and therefore is contrary to Saved Policy 1.CO and 
Emerging Policy DM1. However, given the context of other existing and 
proposed development in the locality it is considered that the broad 
principle of development on the site is acceptable. The development as 
proposed, however, would result in the loss of considerable vegetation 
along the frontage of the site adjacent to Grange Road and would have a 
resulting impact on the character of the landscape and the streetscene. An 
outline tree replacement scheme has been proposed; however, neither the 
Council’s tree officer or biodiversity officer consider that this would be 
capable of delivering adequate mitigation for the trees and hedges, as well 
as the semi-improved grassland that would be lost to the scheme. 

97.The loss of hedgerow directly and resulting impact of the presence of the 
acoustic fence proposed would result in a loss of biodiversity on the site. 
Whilst biodiversity mitigation could ordinarily be secured by condition it is 
not considered that the applicant has demonstrated that sufficient space 
exists within the site to deliver a biodiversity net gain as required by the 
NPPF. 

98. In the absence of a Section 106 Agreement, mitigation of the impact of 
parking on Grange Road and the impact of recreation and waste water on 
European Designated Sites has not been secured. 

99.The proposal is contrary to several Saved and Emerging Policies. While 
the delivery of 9 market houses would provide some economic and social 
benefit it is not considered that this material consideration carries sufficient 
weight to justify a recommendation for approval contrary to the 
Development Plan. The proposal is therefore recommended for refusal. 

37



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Local Area Action Plan
	Local Area Action Plan - Appendix 1

	8 Planning Application - Land adjoining The Hermitage, Grange Road, Netley Abbey, SO31 5FF - F/19/86158

